IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Appellants,

v.

CASE NO. 67,755

WADE POWELL, et ux.,  
et al.,

Appellees.

---

-----  
INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS  
MEDICAL EYE BANK, INC., NORTH FLORIDA  
LIONS EYE BANK, INC., AND  
FLORIDA LIONS EYE BANK, INC.  
-----

CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL,  
SMITH & CUTLER, P.A.  
ALAN C. SUNDBERG  
GEORGE N. MEROS, JR.  
P.O. Drawer 190  
410 First Florida Bank  
Tallahassee, FL 32302  
(904) 224-1585

Attorneys for Eye Banks

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following abbreviations are used in this brief:

R ..... Record on Appeal  
App ..... Appendix to Brief

References to affidavits are cited by referring to the name of the affiant and to the Appendix page on which the affidavit is found. (For example, "Gallagher aff. at App ---.)



STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS<sup>1</sup>

Blindness imposes a staggering burden on the State of Florida. Floridians spend \$138,000,000 each year to help the blind. These persons cannot drive, engage in regular employment, or otherwise lead fully productive lives. The state, therefore, must provide the basic necessities of life for them. This burden will only increase without innovative medical efforts to restore sight. (R 573; Gallagher Aff., App 12).

Corneal transplantation can help to ease this burden. Developed in the 1930's, corneal transplantation surgery has become a highly effective procedure for restoring sight to the functionally blind. (R 575; Griffith aff., App 14). Moreover, the number of people benefiting from corneal transplants has increased markedly in the last five years due to rapid scientific advances in the field. Just a few years ago, infants seldom received corneal transplants due to the poor prognosis for vision. Now, however, with progress in tissue selection, preservation, suturing materials and medications, that picture has changed dramatically. Successful transplants are now being performed on babies as young as five weeks of age. (R 579; Stern aff., App 18).

---

<sup>1</sup>The facts in the above statement are uncontested, arising either from the trial court order under review or from affidavits submitted in support of the parties' motions for summary judgment.

The key to successful corneal transplantation is the availability of donor tissue. As more advances are made in the field, the number of surgical candidates will increase, thereby raising the demand for suitable corneal tissue. (R 579; Stern aff., App 18). Elderly people, like the very young, have added to the increased need for corneal tissue. Since the general population now lives longer, more people are likely to develop eye problems. Indeed, corneal blindness often results from age-related causes such as gradual degeneration of the cells of the cornea. If the older population is to enjoy the benefits of corneal transplantation, an adequate supply of tissue must be found. (R 579; Stern aff., App 18).

The most important modern development in corneal transplantation has been the passage of "Medical Examiner" legislation. Now in effect in at least ten states, the law has served to substantially increase the available supply of corneal tissue. In 1975, before passage of the legislation, only 12,000 corneal transplants were performed in the United States. Last year, in contrast, 25,000 transplants were performed. (R 576; Griffith aff., App 15).

The Medical Examiner's law has increased both the supply and quality of corneal tissue. A qualitative difference exists between corneal tissue obtained through outright donation and tissue obtained pursuant to the Medical Examiner's law. Tissue donated by individuals is often unusable because of the advanced

age of the donor at death. In contrast, a high percentage of tissue obtained through medical examiners is suitable for transplant. High-quality tissue is particularly important for recipients with difficult corneal problems such as chemical burns. (R 580; Stern aff., App 19).

In 1977, the Florida Legislature passed the Medical Examiner's law, codified as Section 732.9185, Florida Statutes. It reads:

(1) In any case in which a patient is in need of corneal tissue for a transplant, a district medical examiner or an appropriately qualified designee with training in ophthalmologic techniques may, upon request of any eye bank authorized under s. 732.918, provide the cornea of a decedent whenever all of the following conditions are met:

(a) A decedent who may provide a suitable cornea for the transplant is under the jurisdiction of the medical examiner and an autopsy is required in accordance with s. 406.11

(b) No objection by the next of kin of the decedent is known by the medical examiner.

(c) The removal of the cornea will not interfere with the subsequent course of an investigation or autopsy.

(2) Neither the district medical examiner nor his appropriately qualified designee nor any eye bank authorized under s. 732.918 may be held liable in any civil or criminal action for failure to obtain consent of the next of kin.

Florida's experience since 1977 confirms the national experience: the Medical Examiner's law increases both the supply and quality of corneal tissue. In 1976, only 500 corneas were obtained in Florida for transplant. Since then, primarily as a result of Section 732.9185, the eye banks in Florida have been able to furnish corneal tissue for approximately 58 transplants each week. This year alone, over 3,000 persons in Florida will have their sight restored through corneal transplantation. Nonetheless, the demand for tissue exceeds the supply. (R 572; Gallagher aff., App 11).

That the passage of Section 732.9185 has improved the quality of corneal tissue in Florida is best exemplified by comparing New York's experience with Florida's. New York did not have a Medical Examiner's law from 1978 to 1982. The average age of donor tissue obtained during that time was 70 years of age. Only 35% of that tissue was surgically suitable, and many of the recipients needed additional surgery. These patients waited an average of four and one-half months for tissue. In Florida, on the other hand, tissue obtained through medical examiners has an average age of 30 years. Over 80-85% of that tissue is surgically suitable. Florida patients wait only one to two weeks for a cornea. (R 573; Gallagher aff., App 12).

Section 732.9185 contains safeguards designed to limit corneal removal to those instances where the public's interest

is greatest and the impact on next of kin the least. The first such safeguard is the requirement that a demonstrated need exist for corneal tissue. Medical examiners may not remove tissue from all decedents; rather, they must be aware that there are persons in need of tissue.

Perhaps the most important safeguard in 732.9185 is the limitation that corneas may be removed only if an autopsy is required under Florida law. Because an autopsy is a surgical dissection of a body, it necessarily results in a massive intrusion into the decedent. Corneal removal, by comparison, requires an infinitesimally small intrusion, since only the very outer surface of a portion of each eye is removed. (R 582; Hegert aff., App 21).

Corneal removal does not affect the appearance of the decedent. The eyes depend for their shape on the vitreous humor, a gel-like fluid that fills the eye. Upon death the vitreous humor recedes, causing the eyes to lose their shape. Embalmers place a cap over each eye to maintain their normal contour and to keep the eyelids closed. With or without corneal removal, the eyes of the decedent must be capped to maintain a normal appearance. (R 582; Hegert aff., App 21).

Section 732.9185 does not place a duty upon medical examiners to seek out the next of kin and obtain consent for corneal removal because prior experience demonstrates that such a duty would cripple the benefits of the law. Before

California's passage of a Medical Examiner's law, the Los Angeles County Medical Examiner's office sought to obtain consent by contacting the family of any decedent who would be a suitable corneal donor. The vast majority of those contacted (75-80%) responded positively. The program broke down, however, because it was impossible to contact about 80% of the families while there was still time to make a donation. Whether because of no phone number or the wrong phone number, or because the family was away visiting friends or relatives, people did not learn that they could donate corneas for transplant. Since California passed the Medical Examiner's law in 1984, the availability and quality of tissue has substantially improved. While people used to wait up to six months for a cornea, today there is little or no wait. (R 584; Ward aff., App 23).

On June 15, 1983, James E. White drowned while swimming at the city beach in Dunnellon, Marion County, Florida. One day later, Associate Medical Examiner Thomas Techman, M.D., performed an autopsy on the body of James White at Leesburg Community Hospital. On July 11, 1983, Anthony W. Powell died in a motor vehicle accident in Marion County. Dr. William H. Shutze, Medical Examiner for the Fifth District, performed an autopsy on the decedent later that same day. In both instances corneal tissue was removed prior to autopsy under the authority of Section 732.9185, Florida Statutes.

In 1983 Appellees, who are the parents of James White and Anthony Powell, brought separate actions against Appellants Shutze, Techman, Gauger and Munroe Regional Medical Center in the Circuit Court for Marion County. Appellees claimed damages for the alleged wrongful removal of the decedents' corneas. (R 1). Count II of each complaint sought a declaratory judgment declaring unconstitutional Section 732.9185. These Appellants, The Medical Eye Bank, Inc., North Florida Lions Eye Bank, Inc. and Florida Lions Eye Bank, Inc. were granted intervention as parties in support of the constitutionality of 732.9185. A number of other interested parties also intervened in Count II. The cases were later consolidated before Judge Swigert for purposes of deciding the constitutional validity of the Medical Examiner's law. (R 931)

In response to motions for summary judgment filed by Appellants and Appellees, on August 23, 1985, the trial court declared Section 732.9185 unconstitutional on its face. (R 760; App 8). The court held that the statute violates substantive and procedural due process, the right to privacy, and the right to equal protection of the law. (App 6). Appellants timely appealed, and the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, has certified the cause as one of great public importance requiring immediate resolution by this Court. (R 799; App 9).

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida's Medical Examiner's law (Restoration of Sight Act) is constitutional because it serves a noble and legitimate public purpose without unreasonably impinging on the rights of others.<sup>2</sup> Specifically, the Act comports with state and federal notions of due process because it bears a reasonable relationship to the permissible state objective of restoring sight to the blind. It satisfies procedural due process because next of kin do not have a cognizable property right in a deceased family member. The statute does not unconstitutionally invade privacy interests since the decedent's right to privacy terminated at death, and next of kin do not have a personal right of privacy in the remains of a decedent. In addition, the Act is consistent with the equal protection clause because its classification is rationally related to a permissible state objective. Georgia and Michigan have recently passed upon the constitutionality of their Medical Examiner's laws. In both instances, the courts have found the statute constitutional.

---

<sup>2</sup>Appellants will refer to the statute under consideration, Section 732.9185, as the "Medical Examiner's law" and the "Restoration of Sight Act," as it was known by the 1977 Legislature which passed the Act. The trial court order refers to that statute as the "Cornea Removal Law." Although the trial court order passes upon the validity of Section 406.11, Florida Statutes, and refers to 406.11 as the Medical Examiner's law, that statute is not the subject of this appeal.



The Act gives far more than it takes away. In carefully limited situations, it affords the people of Florida a means by which to make the blind see. It transforms the tragedy of death into a process of creation and renewal.

#### ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 732.9185, FLORIDA STATUTES  
COMPORTS WITH FEDERAL AND FLORIDA  
DUE PROCESS.

The trial court erred in finding that Section 732.9185 violates substantive and procedural due process. A consistent line of Florida and federal<sup>3</sup> decisions demonstrate that the statute fully complies with due process requirements.

A. The Statute is Reasonably  
Related to a Permissible State  
Objective.

The Court's scrutiny of Section 732.9185 must begin with the accepted principle that the Act "is endowed with a presumption of legislative validity." The burden is on Appellees to prove the absence of any rational connection between the provisions of the Act and legitimate state

---

<sup>3</sup>Florida and federal due process will be discussed interchangeably because the standards in this area are the same in both jurisdictions. Florida Cannery Ass'n v. State, Dept. of Citrus, 371 So.2d 503 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), aff'd, 406 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1981), appeal dismissed, 456 U.S. 1002 (1982).

objectives. Harrah Independent School District v. Martin, 440 U.S. 194, 198 (1979). Put another way, Section 732.9185 satisfies due process if it bears a "reasonable relation to a permissible legislative objective." Johns v. May, 402 So.2d 1166, 1169 (Fla. 1981).

One can scarcely imagine a more permissible state objective than the restoration of sight to Florida citizens. Uncontested facts demonstrate the severe burdens imposed by blindness. Taxpayers must spend hundreds of millions of dollars each year to provide for the blind's basic needs. The state's loss from the unemployment and decreased productivity suffered by the blind is incalculable. Equally important, blindness prevents thousands of persons from living independent, full lives. The restoration of sight to even a small percentage of these people will ease the economic drain and will enhance the productivity and well-being of the citizenry.

Section 732.9185 bears a direct and fundamental relation to Florida's goal of restoring sight by increasing both the supply and quality of corneal tissue available for transplantation. The statute's effect of increasing the supply of tissue is attributable to the fact that it does not impose a duty on medical examiners to seek out and obtain consent for corneal removal. National experience proves that in states where medical examiners must obtain consent to remove tissue,

the family cannot be reached in time to save the decedent's corneas (even though experience also proves that the majority of families would have consented had they been contacted in time). By permitting the removal of corneas unless the medical examiner knows of an objection, Section 732.9185 has greatly increased the supply of tissue in Florida. Whereas hopeful corneal recipients in some states must wait months or years for tissue, by virtue of Section 732.9185, Floridians wait only a matter of weeks.

Section 732.9185 has also enhanced the quality of corneal tissue in Florida. In states without Medical Examiner laws, the only available method of obtaining corneas is through donation under the Uniform Anatomical Gift Act. Tissue thus obtained, however, is typically of poor quality because it comes from elderly donors. Tissue received from medical examiners, on the other hand, comes from younger and healthier persons. The corneas are in better condition and more suitable for successful transplantation.

The trial court itself found that 732.9185 "has as its purpose the commendable and laudable objective of providing high quality cornea tissue to those in need of same. It helps supply and restore sight to the very young, the sick, accidental and diseased victims, and the very old. The gift of sight is one of the most precious of life." (Order at p. 5; App 5; R 764). Because it promotes that objective by

increasing the supply and quality of corneal tissue, Section  
732.9185 comports with state and federal substantive due  
process.

B. Section 732.9185, Florida Statutes, Does not Contravene Due Process Simply Because it Affects Rights Conferred by Common law.

The trial court also appears to hold that the Act is violative of substantive due process because it deprives Appellees of a right to which they were entitled at common law--the right to direct the disposition of the remains of the decedent. See Kirksey v. Jernigan, 45 So.2d 188 (Fla. 1950).

Even if Section 732.9185 does modify Appellees' common law rights, recent decisions of the United States Supreme Court indicate that the loss of a common law right by legislative act does not operate as a deprivation of due process. In Usery v. Turner Elkhorn Mining Co., 428 U.S. 1 (1976), the Court held that legislation changing the rights of former coal miners and granting them a right of recovery against mine operators did not constitute a denial of due process. The Court noted that "legislation readjusting rights and burdens is not unlawful solely because it upsets otherwise settled expectations." Id. at 16. In Duke Power Co. v. Carolina Environmental Study Group, Inc., 438 U.S. 59 (1978), the Court upheld the validity of legislation which substituted limited statutory liability for the unlimited liability at common law of operators of nuclear power plants to victims of a nuclear accident. The Court commented:

The remaining due process objection to the liability-limitation provision is that it fails to provide those injured by a nuclear accident with a satisfactory quid pro quo for the common law rights of recovery which the Act abrogates. Initially, it is not at all clear that the Due Process Clause in fact requires that a legislatively enacted compensation scheme either duplicate the recovery at common law or provide a reasonable substitute recovery.

438 U.S. at 87-88 (emphasis in original). The Court supported the above statement with this footnote:

Our cases have clearly established that "[a] person has no property, no vested interest, in any rule of the common law." Second Employers Liability Cases, 223 U.S. 1 . . . (1912) . . . . The "Constitution does not forbid the creation of new rights, or the abolition of old ones recognized by the common law, to obtain a permissible legislative objective," Silver v. Silver, 280 U.S. 117 . . . (1929), despite the fact that "otherwise settled expectations" may be upset thereby. Usery v. Turner Elkhorn Mining Company, 428 U.S. 1 . . . (1976).

Id. at 88 n.32. Following these decisions, the United States Court of Appeals, in Morris v. Hotel Riviera, Inc., 704 F.2d 1113 (9th Cir. 1983), upheld a Nevada statute which changed the common law and limited innkeepers' liability for loss for theft of the property of their guests. The Morris court held:

[C]ommon law rights may be abolished to attain a permissible legislative objective, and an individual has no vested interest in a common law rule.

Id. at 1114.

As already shown, Section 732.9185 serves a permissible legislative objective. Thus, even if it affects Appellees' common law rights, it does not offend due process.

C. The Act Does not Violate  
Procedural Due Process Because  
Appellees Have no Property Right  
in the Remains of a Decedent.

Beyond question, due process entitles one to certain procedural rights before state action can materially affect his property. Just as certainly, however, a person cannot claim procedural rights if he does not have a property interest in the matter affected. See Board of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564 (1972).

Appellees are not entitled to procedural rights in the removal of their decedents' corneas because they do not have a property right in the remains. Historically, a few courts described the next of kin's right to direct the disposition of a corpse as a "quasi-property" right in the corpse. Modern decisions make clear, however, that the right actually sounds in tort rather than property. Prosser describes the true nature of the next of kin's right in this way:

A number of decisions have involved the mishandling of dead bodies. . . . In these cases the Courts have talked of a somewhat

dubious "property right" to the body, usually in the next-of-kin, which did not exist while the decedent was living, cannot be conveyed, can be used only for the one purpose of burial, and not only has no pecuniary value but is a source of liability for funeral expenses. It seems reasonably obvious that such "property" is something evolved out of thin air to meet the occasion, and that it is in reality the personal feelings of the survivors which are being protected, under a fiction likely to deceive no one but a lawyer.

W. Prosser, The Law of Torts, 43, 44 (2d ed. 1955).

The American Law Institute has also characterized the next-of-kin's rights to direct the disposition of a corpse as tort rights. The Restatement 2d of Torts, Section 868, sets forth a tort of interfering with the "right of burial" as follows:

One who intentionally, recklessly or negligently removes, withholds, mutilates or operates on the body of a dead person or prevents its proper interment or cremation is subject to liability to a member of the family of the deceased who is entitled to the disposition of the body.

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