0 A	12.3	-85
			60
IN THE SUPREME COUN CASE NUMBER (/	
STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,			
Appellants,	87 2. 12		
- V S -	NOV IS :		
WADE POWELL, et ux., et al.,	CLERK, SUPPLEM	2	
Appellees.	Chief Dopply C	Clerk	
	/		

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,

MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA,

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE'S ERWIN WHITE

AND SUSAN WHITE

James T. Reich 606 S.W. Third Avenue Ocala, Florida 32670 (904) 351-8030

_

Jack Singbush, P.A. Post Office Box 906 Ocala, Florida 32678 (904) 732-0663

.

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Cornea Removal Law, Fla. Stat. Section 732.9185. i s unconstitutional on its face because i t violates both procedural and substantive due process. It i s clear that Florida Law recognizes that the next of kin of a decedent has the right to possess, protect and dispose of This right has been identified as a property the remains. right and it cannot be taken away without both substantive and procedural due process. Further, that right is a personal and fundamental one deeply rooted in our society's tradition and basic understandings developed over the centuries. This right or entitlement cannot be taken away without due process, either procedural or substantive. The Corneal Removal Law deprives Plaintiffs of this right as to arbitrarily and without any safeguards whatsoever their son for the protection of that right and, therefore, in violation of both procedural and substantive due process.

Further, Plaintiffs right to privacy is violated by the Statute since their personal, basic and fundamental right to possess, protect and dispose of the remains of their son is taken away from them without any meaningful opportunity to object and without their consent and in contravention of their wishes and desires. The State has no compelling interest in the non-consentual removal of corneae from deceased persons in order to provide tissue for

transplant to another person whose blindness may be cured thereby.

1.

The Statute also denies Plaintiffs equal protection of the Law in that it creates an involuntary classification into which Plaintiffs fell by reason of no action of their own. The classification is not rationally related to a legitimate governmental objective or purpose. If the State compelling interest in providing suitable corneae for has 8 transplant, then restricting the removal of corneae without of the next of kin to those circumstances where the consent decedent is the subject of an autopsy impedes rather than promotes that objective since it restricts the source of potentially healthy corneal tissue.

Appellees' have fundamental property interests and rights in the remains of their deceased minor child. Those rights are constitutionally protected from abridgment by the Corneal Removal Statute.

The Trial Court Order appealed is internally consistent.

Therefore, the corneal removal Statute, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> Section 732.9185, is facially unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 732.9185 VIOLATES FLORIDA AND FEDERAL DUE PROCESS.

A. Procedural Due Process

It is well settled that, "The requirements of procedural due process apply only to the deprivation of the Fourteenth Amendment's interests encompassed by protection of liberty and property." Board of Regents, v. Roth, 40 U.S. 564, 570, 92 S.Ct. 2701, 2705, 33 L. Ed. 2 d 548 (1972). If the interest is protected, it matters not whether it is characterized as a "property interest" or 8 "liberty interest". It is sufficient if the interest or entitlement is "....grounded in State law..." Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., 455 U.S. 420, 431, 102 S.Ct. 1148, (1982), or "....so rooted in the traditions 1155 and to be ranked fundamental." conscience of our people as Scholl v. Martin, N.Y., 104 S.Ct. 2403, 2412 (1984).citing Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 105 54 S.Ct. 330, 332 (1934) and Leland v. Oregon, 343 U.S. 790, 798, 72 S.Ct. 1002, 1007 (1952).

The Supreme Court, "....has not attempted to define with exactness the liberty...guaranteed [by the

Fourteenth Amendment], ... "Board of Regents of State College v. Roth, Supra, 2706, but it has succinctly stated:

> In a Constitution for a free people, there can be no doubt that the meaning of "liberty" must be broad indeed. (Id. 2707).

and

"Liberty" and "property" are broad and majestic terms. They are among "[g]reat" [constitutional] the concepts... purposely left to gather meaning from experience....[They] relate to the whole domain of social and economic fact, and the Statesmen who founded this Nation knew too well that only stagnant society remains a unchanged. (Id., 2706).

Likewise, "...the types of interests protected as 'property' are varied and, as often as not, intangible, relating 'to the whole domain of social and economic fact.' " Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., Supra, 1155, citing Board of Regents v. Roth, Supra, and others.

Appellees do indeed have an interest or entitlement with respect to their son's body. In the case of <u>Dunahoo</u> v. Bess, 200 So. 541 (Fl. 1941), this Court said:

> For the decision of this case we feel called upon to consider two questions. First, does the surviving spouse have a property right in the corpse...sufficient to

predicate an action for a trespass committed thereon? wrong or the law of Florida Second, will an action by the surviving sustain for mental anguish spouse physical injury unconnected with under the stated facts? [1] The first question is easily in the affirmative. The answered the surviving spouse to right of have, protect and dispose of the remains... is a right recognized by law. Id., 542.

Later in that same opinion, the Court noted, "we have held there is a property right in the corpse...."

If the controlling factor in determining whether or the right, interest or entitlement claimed by appellees not is entitled to the due process protection of the Fourteenth i s Amendment whether it characterized i s or not 8 S "property" by State Law, then the language in Dunahoo conclusive. right has seems to be The continued to be recognized by the Courts of this State. Kirksey v. So.2d. 188 (Fl. 1950), Kimple v. Riedel, 133 Jernigan, 45 So.2d 437 (2d DCA Fla. 1961), Rupp v. Jackson, 238 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1970).

Appellants urge upon this Court that the right of the next of kin to possess, protect and dispose of the remains of a decedent has somehow been changed by this Court and that the characterization of that right as property is no longer valid. In support of this contention, they cite Kirksey v. Jernigan, supra, and Rupp v. Jackson, supra.

decisions clearly recognizes However, each of those the malicious interference with the right identified in actionable. Nowhere in either Dunahoo as Kirksey or Rupp is there any indication that the characterization of the right is different from that contained in Dunahoo.

Further, the issue decided in <u>Kirksey</u> was whether or not an action founded solely in tort would support damages for mental pain and anguish and punitive damages. <u>Kirksey v. Jernigan</u>, supra, 189. Rather than recede from or alter any holding in <u>Dunahoo</u>, the Court specifically acknowledged and reaffirmed Dunahoo's holding:

> This Court is committed to the and we reaffirm it here, that rule, there can be no recovery for mental pain and anguish unconnected with injury in physical an action out of the negligent breach arising of a Contract whereby simple i s involved. negligence Id., citing Dunahoo v. Bess, supra.

The Plaintiff in that case filed her action in three Counts. The first Count wrongful was based on the withholding of the body, the second on the same ground and, further, the unauthorized embalming and the holding of the body as security for the payment of the embalming fee and the third for charging an excessive embalming fee and holding the body as security for payment of same. Each of these actions sounds in intentional tort and the Court,

distinguishing the cause of action in Dunahoo and noting the rule announced therein that an action founded in contract would not support a claim for damages for mental pain and anguish, refused,

1

"...to extend this rule to cases founded purely in tort, where the wrongful act is such as to reasonably imply malice, or where, from the entire want of care or attention to duty, or great indifference persons. to the property or rights of others, such malice will be imputed as would justify the assessment of exemplary or punitive damages. Id.

No where in that opinion is there a modification of the holding in <u>Dunahoo</u> but there is specific acknowledgement of that holding and of the right identified therein.

Appellants reliance upon the decision in <u>Jackson v.</u> <u>Rupp</u>, 228 So.2d 916 (4th DCA Fla. 1969) and the subsequent adoption of that decision by this Court in <u>Rupp v.</u> <u>Jackson</u>, 238 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1970) is similarly misplaced. The specific holding in that case was:

> $\begin{bmatrix} 1 \end{bmatrix}$ action for In an an unauthorized founded autopsy solely in tort in order for recovery to be effected for damages resulting from mental and pain anguish unconnected with the physical injury, the wrongful act must be such as to reasonably imply

malice or such that from the entire want of care or attention to duty great indifference to the or rights person, property, or of others such malice would be imputed justify assessment as would of or punitive exemplary damages. 918-919, citing Kimple v. Id., Riedel, supra. [emphasis added.]

The requirement that an action must sound in tort and that the circumstances must be such that malice, either actual or implied, exists before damages for mental pain and anguish or punitive damages are recoverable does nothing to disturb the characterization of the right of the next of kin possess, protect and dispose of their decedent as a to property right. Neither Kimple, Kirksey, Rupp, ٥r the following cases cited by Defendants do anything but reaffirm McKinnon v. Pengree, 455 So.2d similar damages issues. 1134 (Fla. DCA 1984); Sherer v. Rubin Memorial Chapel, Ltd., 44 So.2d 1176 (4th DCA Fla. 1984); Scheuer v. Wille, 385 So.2d 1076 (4th DCA Fla. 1980); Przybyszewski v. Metropolitan Dade County, 363 So.2d 388 (3rd DCA Fla. Brooks v. South Broward Hospital District, 1978);325 So.2d 479 (4th DCA Fla. 1975).

Even if the property right identified i n Dunahoo not property in the traditional commercial sense, surely is that right can fit within the definition of property necessary to a changing society as noted in Roth. It may be intangible but this is not fatal to its status as a

property right protected by the procedural due process of the Fourteenth Amendment. Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., supra, 2706.

Appellees rights, as the next of kin, to possess, protect and dispose of the remains of their son is entitled Fourteenth Amendment due to process protection as a "liberty" interest as well as a "property" interest. The term "liberty" described by the United States Supreme Court clearly sufficient to include that right since it is one i s so deeply "...rooted in the traditions and conscience to as fundamental". Scholl v. Martin, New York, be ranked supra, 2412. It is only an advancement of medical science and technology that has caused this right to be threatened by state action.

The fact that the right has not been specifically identified by the Courts as fundamental and therefore protected by Fourteenth Amendment procedural due process is compelling reason to deny that protection. There simply no need for the inclusion of this was no right i n the "majestic" term of "liberty", Board of Regents v. Roth, supra, 2706, until the medical technology to transplant and other tissues developed. Now, societal rules to organs protect the right must be formulated.

A guide as to what type of rights are basic, intimate, personal, fundamental and implicit in the concept of ordered liberty and protected by various provisions of provided by the United States the Constitution has been Supreme Court: Moore v. City of Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494, Supreme Court 1932, 52 L.Ed.2d 531 (1977), (Right of 97 extended family to share household; Rowe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113, 93 S.Ct. 705, 35 L.Ed.2d 147 (1973), (Woman's right to decide whether to have an abortion; Loving v. Virginia, 388 U.S. 1, 87 S.Ct. 1817, 18 L.Ed.2d 1010 (1967), Freedom to marry of another race; Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 85 S.Ct. 1678, 14 L.Ed.2d 510 (1965), (Right to use contraceptives); Skinner v. Oklahoma, 316 U.S. 535, 62 S.Ct. 1110, 86 L.Ed.2d 1655 (1942); Pierce v. Society of Sisters, 268 U.S. 510, 45 S.Ct. 571, 69 L.Ed. 1070, (1925), (Parents' right to send children to private schools); Myer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 43 S.Ct. 625, 67 L.Ed. 1042 (1923), (Parents' right to have children instructed in a foreign language).

Griswold v. Connecticut, supra, is another example of societal rules having to be formulated in order to protect the right of a person to decide whether or not to conceive a child. Advancement in techniques of contraception and increased availability of contraceptive methods placed the issue of whether the state could determine who could receive such information and methods or whether that decision was more properly left to the individual. The Court concluded that the individual was entitled to make that decision. In a free society no other result could have been reached.

Similarly, the issue in this case is whether or not the government or the next of kin, in a free society, is entitled to make the decision as to whether or not a part of the remains of a decedent is to be removed for transplant.

Further, it is clear from the mere existence of the next of kin to Section 732.9185 that the right of require consent before removal of the corneae i s a right that existed prior to enactment of the Statute. The Statute recognizes the right. Since there was no specific statutory provision granting that right and no specific holding by any Florida or Federal Court, it is clear that the genesis of the right is the deeply rooted traditions, practice and custom of our society. It must, therefore, come within the broad definition of a "liberty interest" protected by Fourteenth Amendment procedural due process recited in Board of Regents v. Roth, supra, 2706.

It is clear from the above that Appellees, the as next of kin of their son, have a right, interest or entitlement protected by Fourteenth Amendment due process whether it is characterized as "property" or "liberty".

Determining whether or not a Statute is constitutional in light of the procedural due process requirements of the Fourteenth Amendment is a two-step process. The first step is to determine whether or not a protected interest has been deprived and then to determine what process i s due as to said interest. Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., supra, 1154. As the U.S. Court has said:

> To put it as plainly as possible the State may not finally destroy a property interest without first giving the putative owner an opportunity to present his claim of entitlement. <u>Board of Regents v.</u> Roth, supra, 1157.

and,

If a clearer holding is needed, we provide it today. The point is straightforward: The due process clause provides that certain substantive rights - life, liberty, property - cannot be deprived and except pursuant to Constitutionally adequate procedures.

The Statutory scheme in Section 732.9185 recognizes the right of Appellees to object to the corneal removal and then takes the right away by not requiring any attempt by the Medical Examiner or any of his associates or employees to notify any person who has the right, of the intent to remove. In fact, it is designed specifically to defeat the exercise of the right to object. It encourages silence by a State Officer when that Officer is directly confronted by those who have the right. Ιt encourages the surreptitious taking of the corneae that occurred in both cases in this Appeal. In both instances the next of kin had face to face contact with the person authorizing the removal within the time frame after death critical to the suitability for transplant of corneal tissue. The only reason notice of intent to remove would not given under those be circumstances i s an assumption that consent would be denied and an objection stated. This approaches a state of mind of in the face of an objection. This scheme does not taking even attempt to provide the minimal protection of giving the has a protected interest an "....opportunity to person who present his claim of entitlement...."Board of Regents v. Roth, supra. Appellees submit that, at the very least, a good faith effort to obtain consent and notify the next of kin of intent to remove corneae is required. Even a scheme which provided that the law would imply consent after reasonable attempts to give notice and obtain consent might be sufficient but to completely ignore the right i s a violation of the Fourteenth Amendment procedural due process.

B. Substantive Due Process

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